


 

 

 
 
 

Northey Island   
River Blackwater   

Maldon   
Essex  

 
 
 

Site Code  MDNI 15 
NGR  587770 206530 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Archaeological survey report 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Sign-off History: 
Issue No.  Date: Prepared by: Checked/ Approved 

by: 
Reason for Issue: 

1 18.09.15 Eliott Wragg Louise Davies Draft  
2 25.09.15 Eliott Wragg 

Louise Davies 
Louise Davies Second draft incorporating NT 

comments 
3 08.10.15 Eliott Wragg 

Louise Davies 
Louise Davies Third version 

     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 MOLA  
Mortimer Wheeler House, 46 Eagle Wharf Road, London N1 7ED tel 0207 410 2200  

email generalenquiries@mola.org.uk 
 

MOLA is a company limited by guarantee registered in England and Wales 
with company registration number 07751831 and charity registration number 1143574. 

Registered office: Mortimer Wheeler House, 46 Eagle Wharf Road, London N1 7ED 
 
  

mailto:generalenquiries@mola.org.uk


 

 

Summary 
 
This report presents the results of an archaeological intertidal survey carried out by MOLA at  
Northey Island, River Blackwater, Maldon, Essex. The report was commissioned from MOLA 
by the National Trust. 
 
In accordance with the Method Statement (MOLA 2015) a number of features were 
investigated on the 1st and 2nd of September. Some of these features had been previously 
identified from aerial photographs taken by a small unmanned aircraft (SUA) which flew over 
the site in August 2015. 
 
Two barge hulks were observed to be in a disintigrating state, along with four 20th century 
oyster pits, a 20th century wharf, and a probable 20th century landing stage. The sea wall 
was seen  to comprise an earthern bank north of the post 1897 maintained defences. A 20th 
century swimming pool was also recorded. 
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1 Introduction 

1.1 Site background 

1.1.1 An archaeological intertidal survey was carried out by MOLA at  Northey Island (‘the 
site’) on the 1st and 2nd of September 2015 (see Fig 1). The area had previously 
been photographed from a small unmanned aircraft (SUA), to produce a photo 
orthomosaic for the purpose of identifying and recording archaeological features. 
The orthomosaic aerial photo can be viewed at: 
https://www.dronelab.io/map/public/view/c3dca965e0e8494aa6e0610897c7e37d 

1.1.2 This document is the Report on the features identified from the aerial photos and 
from fieldwork.  

1.1.3 A written scheme of investigation (method statement) was previously prepared, 
which covered the whole area of the site (MOLA 2015). This document should be 
referred to for information on the natural geology, archaeological and historical 
background of the site, and the initial interpretation of its archaeological potential.   

https://www.dronelab.io/map/public/view/c3dca965e0e8494aa6e0610897c7e37d
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2 Topographical and historical background 

2.1 Topography 

2.1.1 Northey Island is located in an area of London Clay, which outcrops in the higher, 
south-western part of the island. In other parts of the island the London Clay is 
overlain by Quaternary alluvial deposits of silt, sand and gravel. Ground level at 
Northey Farm is c 4m OD (MOLA 2015). 

2.1.2 The island was formerly joined to the mainland by a spur of London Clay, with 
Southey Creek being a small stream. Rising sea levels since the end of the last 
glacial period (c 10,000 years ago) meant Northey Island was cut off from the main 
land, however it could still be accessed via a causeway since at least the early 
medieval period (MOLA 2015). 

2.2 Archaeology   

2.2.1 A possible Neolithic settlement has been recorded on the southern edge of the 
island, with part of a Neolithic polished flint axe found nearby. Prehistoric pottery 
and flint implements were also reputedly found in a gravel pit in the central part of 
the island. The Essex Historic Environment Record contains two records of mounds 
on the island, historically described as tumuli. One mound was originally located in 
the south-eastern part of the island, but can no longer be found due to water 
erosion. The other mound in the north of the island still exists, albeit in poor 
condition. These features are undated, but could be late prehistoric or later burial 
mounds (MOLA 2015). 

2.2.2 There are no known Roman finds from the island, however Roman pottery, salt 
workings and evidence for a Roman building have been found c 1km to the south-
west on the mainland (MOLA 2015). 

2.2.3 The the area around South House Farm, on the mainland to the south-west of the 
island, is the reputed site of the battle of Maldon in 991. This is listed in the Register 
of Historic Battle Fields maintained by Historic England. The causeway to Northey 
Island is thought to have been in existence by this date, when Southey Creek was 
only about half of its present width (MOLA 2015).  

2.2.4 Sea levels rose quickly between the 12th and 14th centuries and sea walls may 
have been needed to maintain the pasture on the island. A commission dating to 
1439 describes sea defences being built along the Essex coastline. The commission 
does not specify sea walls at Northey, however they may have existed at this time. 
There are no written records of the sea walls until the 17th century, when they were 
described as needing repair, therefore must have been in existence by this time. 
The sea wall is thought to have originally been a clay bank, possibly based on a 
revetment of stakes. It was strengthened with stone in the early 19th century. It was 
breached in several places during a storm in 1897, and only partially repaired, 
resulting in much of the interior of the island beginning to revert to saltmarsh despite 
attempts to reclaim the marshes being made up until the 1920s. 

2.2.5 The hulks of two Thames Barges are located within the study area, these are the 
Mistley (1891) and the Gillman (1865). Both were recorded by the Nautical 
Archaeology Society in 1997, but have since deteriorated considerably (MOLA 
2015). 

2.2.6 Former oyster pits exist within the southern part of the study area, dating from the 
late 19th century or early 20th century, while an early 19th century farm house was 
destroyed by bombing and replaced by the current Northey Farm building in the 
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1920s. A number of other 19th and 20th century buildings surround it (MOLA 2015). 
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3 Survey methodology 

3.1 Field methodology 

3.1.1 An  SUA undertook an aerial survey of the site in order to create a 2D and 3D 
orthomosaic. 

3.1.2 This orthomosaic was subsequently ground-truthed using photography, sketches, 
measured plans and pro-forma recording sheets as appropriate. 

3.2 Recording methodology 

3.2.1 The archaeological ground survey was carried out in accordance with the Method 
Statement (MOLA  2015). 

3.3 Site archive 

Number of feature/vessel record sheets  11 
Number of sketches/plans  4 
Number of photographs  168 
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4 Results of the survey 
4.1.1 The site comprised an area of salt-marsh and mudflats, c 5.7 hectares in size in the 

north-western part of Northey Island. The entire site, apart from a small area in the 
south-western corner, was inundated at high tide; however the tide on the days of 
the survey was particularly high. The highest part of the site was the south-western 
corner, at a height of c 6.5m OD. A number of archaeological features were 
recorded during the survey and are described below and shown on Figure 2.  

4.2 Vessel 1 

4.2.1 Vessel 1 is located on the south bank of a creek in the landward side of the sea 
wall. The national grid reference for the vessel is 587572 206492. This vessel was 
identified as a carvel-planked barge with a length of 27.20m (including rudder), a 
length of 25.00m (stempost to sternpost), a beam of 6.02m and an estimated visible 
height of 2.50m (site conditions precluded accurate measurement). The interior of 
the vessel had largely silted up and comprised saltmarsh. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.2.2 It was in a very degraded condition but the stempost, sternpost and rudder were 

substantially intact, some of the vessel sides were intact to deck level but the 
majority had collapsed to some degree or other. The stempost was molded at the 
head 0.28m and sided at the head 0.23m, while the sternpost was molded at the 
head 0.23m and sided at the head 0.20m while being sided at the foot 0.28m. One 
piece of rising deadwood was noted, while the salt marsh was partially removed to 
reveal a softwood keelson sided 0.42m. The frames were molded 0.14m and sided 
0.17m and were spaced, centre to centre, at 0.56m. There were two layers of 
overlapping external planking, the outer planks being 0.25m wide and 0.06m thick , 

 
Vessel 1 Starboard side, looking south 
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while the inner planks were of the same thickness but 0.20m wide. 
4.2.3 Most of the deck and the hold coaming had collapsed inboard and only some deck 

planking was visible. The deck planking ran fore and aft, the planks were 0.15m 
wide and 0.06m thick; the deck itself being originally supported by iron hanging 
knees bolted through the ceiling planking and into the frames. One athwartship 
beam was still in situ above the area of the hold, 9.40m aft of the front of the 
stempost and was molded 0.18m and sided 0.20m. The hold itself was 15.70m long, 
the coaming being 0.39m wide and 0.09m thick. The ceiling planks of the hold were 
0.24m wide and 0.04m thick, while the fragments visible forward of the hold were 
0.23m wide and 0.012m thick and displayed traces of red paint. 

4.2.4 The screw steering gear was observed although it had fallen from the rudder head. 
It had a name plate inscribed ‘Taylor-Neath Rochester’, presumably the 
manufacturer. Three chain plates for standing rigging were observed midships on 
the upper port strakes. Two iron bilge pump tubes were observed forward of the 
hold, the starboard one appeared to still be in situ and had an 0.18m external 
diameter and 0.12m internal diameter. Observed closer to the bow and considerably 
obscured by the saltmarsh was the anchor windlass. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

4.3 Vessel 2 

4.3.1 This vessel was almost entirely covered by salt marsh, only the rudder, sternpost 
and two extremely degraded frames being visible. The observed length was 2.85m 
and observed height 2.60m. The rudder and sternpost are located at NGR 587578 
206439. 

4.3.2 The sternpost was molded at the head 0.23m and sided at the head 0.15m. The 
rudder fan was studded with iron nails and a square iron collar measuring 0.34m by 
0.33m was recorded on the rudder head. The rudder was not attached to the 

 

Vessel 1 Screw steering gear and sternpost 
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sternpost by the usual gudgeon and pintle system but by straps from both sternpost 
and rudder around a vertical iron post. The two observed frames were too degraded 
to make any accurate measurements of their original dimensions but appeared to be 
spaced, centre to centre, 0.40m. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

4.4 Vessel fragment 3 

4.4.1 This vessel fragment comprised six planks fastened to a deck beam with hold 
coaming attached above. The fragment was located at NGR 587565 206437. 

4.4.2 The planks were 0.10-0.20m wide and 0.08m to 0.10m thick, the deck beam was 
molded 0.18m and sided 0.20m, while the coaming comprised two planks, the lower 
one being 0.30m wide and 0.10m thick, the upper being 0.10m wide and 0.10m 
thick. The lower part of the coaming was studded with copper nails. 

4.4.3 The dimensions of the planks, deck beam and coaming are consistent with those 
recorded in Vessel 1; it is, therefore, considered that this is part of the deck of that 
vessel which has come adrift. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Vessel 2 Rudder and sternpost looking starboard 
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4.5 Oyster pits 

4.5.1 Four former oyster pits were recorded in the south of the site, connected to each 
other by a drainage channel on the south and east sides, and by a number of pipes, 
most of which were ceramic but two of which were plastic. The central national grid 
reference for the group of oyster pits was 587580 206410. 

4.5.2 The oyster pits ranged in size from 4.2m x 5.8m to 16m x 20m, were generally steep 
sided and c 0.8m deep. Some showed evidence of being revetted with small timber 
piles and planking. Most were square/rectilinear but some had irregular edges which 
may have been the result of subsequent flooding and silting. Where visible the 
bottoms of the pits contained gravel, some gravel also being recorded in the 
connecting drainage channel. 

4.5.3 The oyster pits were recorded by measured archaeological survey and photography, 
and can be seen on Figure 4.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Vessel fragment 3, planks, deck beam, hold 
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Southern end of north-eastern oyster pit showing timber revetments 
 

 
Drainage channel on southern side of oyster pits 
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4.6 Sea wall 

4.6.1 Most of the sea wall comprised an earthen bank with vegetation ranging in height 
from 0.75m to 1.50m on the landward side and from 0.30m to 1.20m on the seaward 
side. The southernmost side has been partially faced in concrete. The sea wall with 
levels is shown on Figure 2. 

4.7 Cultivation marks 

4.7.1 The aerial photo of the site clearly shows the presence of parallel lines orientated 
north-south across the majority of the site, which are the remnants of cultivation 
marks. These were not obviously visible on the ground, and have been recorded 
from the orthomosiac photo and digital elevation model. The distance between the 
lines is largely similar, between 2m and 3m.  

 
 
 
 
 

 

Plastic drainage pipes in northern end of north-eastern oyster pit 
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4.8 Wharf 

4.8.1 In the north-west of the site the remains of what appears to be an ‘L’ shaped wharf 
was recorded, measuring c 29m x 34m. The central grid reference of the wharf was 
NGR 587564 206623. 

4.8.2 The wharf appears to have been constructed by dumping masonry and ferrous slag 
onto a raft of timber planks. The seaward side was revetted by a number of posts 
and planks driven into the foreshore, twenty four of these were observed during the 
survey. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Timber raft of the wharf, overlying ferrous slag, looking north-west 
 

 
Cultivation marks visible on the digital elevation model (DEM) of the site 
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4.9 The landing stage 

4.9.1 In the south-west of the site a linear structure was observed comprising thirty three 
posts and planks driven into the foreshore. The structure was 17.40m long and up to 
1.40m wide and was interpreted as the remains of a possible landing stage. The 
central grid reference of the landing stage was NGR 587497 206463. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Wharf looking south-west showing timber revetments along western side 
 

 
View of landing stage looking west 
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4.10 The swimming pool 

4.10.1 A swimming pool was recorded in the trees in the south-west corner of the site, 
centered on NGR 587530, 206417. Measuring 7.50m by 4.60m it was built of light 
blue painted cast concrete with curved concrete capping stones, and was 
surrounded by a c 2m wide earthen bank. 

4.10.2 To the south-west of the pool a slight bank and depression c 2m² suggests a feature 
associated with the pool, such as a building or terrace.  
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5 Archaeological potential and conclusions 

5.1 General discussion of the survey 

5.1.1 Vessel 1 had been previously been identified as the Mistley, launched in 1891 at 
Harwich, by the NAS survey undertaken in 1997. That survey demonstrated that the 
hull was largely intact except for considerable damage at the bow, and that the deck 
was largely still in situ. It also demonstrated that the vessel had two openings to the 
hold (Clarke et al, 1997). The vessel has now deteriorated to such an extent that 
this was not discernible, although it explains the presence of the athwartship beam 
recorded above the area of the hold. It seems highly likely that this beam was one of 
the deck beams of the forward hold opening. Vessel Fragment 3 is almost certainly 
part of the Mistley’s deck, possibly from either forward or aft of the after hold 
opening. It is highly likely, once the deck had collapsed inboard, that the rate of 
degradation and disintegration increased, and that this increased rate of destruction 
will continue. 

5.1.2 Likewise, Vessel 2 had been previously identified as the Gillman, launched in 1865 
at Lambeth. This vessel was recorded as in considerably worse condition than the 
Mistley, only the floor timbers and some outer planking, along with the sternpost and 
rudder being visible (Clarke et al, 1997). Only the sternpost, rudder and ends of two 
extremely degraded floor timbers were observed during this survey. It is, however, 
likely that more of the bottom of the vessel survives under the salt marsh. Again, this 
vessel is likely to continue to disintegrate. 

5.1.3 An area of oyster pits had been identified on  the aerial survey; on investigation 
there proved to be five pits, connected by drainage channels and several ceramic 
and two plastic pipes. These pits are likely to post date the 1897 breach of the sea 
walls; as prior to this date this area would have been dry land and the pits would not 
have been filled with water as the tide rose. They appear to have continued in use 
into at least the mid 20th century and are visible on the 1975 Ordnance Survey map.  

5.1.4 The majority of the sea wall observed comprised an earthern bank with vegetation, 
which is presumed to be the remains of the sea wall breached in 1897. The 
southernmost section had been partially faced in concrete.  

5.1.5 The parallel lines recorded from the aerial photograph and DEM are the remnants of 
cultivation/plough marks relating to the site’s former use as agricultural land. During 
the later 18th century an increase in demand for food lead to more land, including 
marsh land, being used for crop production. During this time it would have been 
economically viable to repair the sea walls and protect the land within the site so it 
could be used as arable land. It is likely that the cultivation marks date from this 
period. 

5.1.6 An ‘L’ shaped wharf was recorded in the northwest of the site built of ferrous slag 
and masonry being dumped onto a timber raft. The wharf is first marked on 1924 
Ordnance Survey map.  It may have been used for moving agricultural products off 
the island or building materials on to it. The slag and masonry which were used to 
built up the wharf could have been brought to the island as ballast.   

5.1.7 A linear timber structure was observed on the foreshore in the south-west of the site 
which possibly represents a landing stage. Historic photos show a timber landing 
stage in this area, which was constructed shortly after the island was bought by 
Norman Angell in 1923, and the posts visible today could be the remains of this 
structure.   
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5.1.8 Another timber jetty is shown in the background of a photo of a houseboat moored 

on the ‘beach’ in the south-western corner of the site. No traces of this jetty or the 
houseboat could be seen during the site surveys. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
5.1.9 A swimming pool was recorded in an area of trees just north of the maintained sea 

wall, presumably associated with the period when Eric Lane, nephew of Normal 
Angell, owned the island, from 1946 to 1978. It has an earthern berm raised around 
it to stop sea water flooding. As fairly substantial trees were growing in it, it must 
have fallen out of use a significant number of years ago. 

5.1.10 A feature is shown on the 1975 Ordnance Survey map in the location of the 
swimming pool. This was originally interpreted as an oyster pit, however it is most 

 

View of landing stage looking west with Norman Angell’s yacht, from Ardley, N. 2011 
The Jottings of a Thames Estuary Ditch-Crawler 
 

 
Norman Angell’s lighter, No. 527, Friends, in about 1930, from Ardley, N. 2011 The 
Jottings of a Thames Estuary Ditch-Crawler 
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likely to be the pool, as it is the same size and on the same orientation as the pool 
recorded on site. 

5.1.11 Earthworks recorded to the south-west of the pool, comprising a slight bank and 
depression c 2m², could have been a platform for a small building or terrace. A 
photograph of the ‘beach’ in the south-western corner of the site looking towards the 
pool show a timber structure in the location of these earthworks, which may have 
been a changing room for the pool, or an unrelated outbuilding such as a storage 
shed. This photograph also shows timber revetments along the seaward edge of the 
sea wall, which can no longer be seen.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

5.2 Significance 

5.2.1 A review of the archaeological features identified from the aerial photograph, DEM 
and site survey work, combined with documentary research shows that the majority 
of the features surveyed date to the late 19th or early 20th century. Only the sea 
wall may pre-date this time, but this shows evidence for more modern repairs. No 
other features pre-dating the 19th century were recorded in the site. 

5.2.2 Whilst the archaeological remains are of local significance there is nothing to 
suggest that they are of regional or national importance. The barges on Northey 
Island, like the remnants of the landing stage, wharf and oyster pits, are part of the 
history of the island relating to a time when it was owned by the Angell Lane family. 
The barges are badly degraded, however, and many examples of similar barges 
exist which are still in use. 

 

 

The final position of Norman Angell’s accommodation lighter, showing timber structure 
in the background to the right, and timber revetments to the left, from Ardley, N. 2011 
The Jottings of a Thames Estuary Ditch-Crawler 
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7 Appendix 1: Scanned site record sheets 
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